FILED SID J. WHITE APR 30 1984

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOUGLAS JACKSON,)	CLERK SUPREME COURT
Appellant,)	Chief Deputy Clerk
vs.	,	CASE NO. 60-343
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court 17th Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida Judge Thomas M. Coker, Jr.

Prepared by:

Michael D. Gelety, Esq. Counsel for Douglas Jackson 1700 E. Las Olas Boulevard Suite 300 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Phone: 305-462-4600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Douglas Jackson, was arrested on the instant charges on a warrant, and was indicted by the Broward County Grand Jury, along with co-defendant, Aubrey Livingston, for five counts of first degree murder charging the deaths of Larry Finney, Walter Washington, Edna Manuel also known as Edna Washington, Terrence Manuel, and Reginald Manuel, as well as six counts of kidnapping of the five previously mentioned people, and of Karen Jackson. 9, pg. 1562). On March 25, 1981, a hearing was conducted on Appellant's motion attacking the Grand Jury composition, specifically dealing with the low payment of the Grand Jurors which excluded working class black citizens, and such motion was denied. (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 3). On July 2, 1981, a hearing was held on various motions by Appellant, including a motion to transfer the cause to Dade County and various motions to dismiss, which were denied by the court. (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 27, 46). On August 11, 1981, a defense Motion for Continuance was granted, as was the Appellant's Motion for Severance (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 67,71). On August 14, 1981, Appellant's Motion to Sever Counts (deaths of adults in Counts 1 through 3 from the deaths of the two children in Counts 4 and 5) was denied, but Appellant's Motion for Psychiatric Examination was granted (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 105). On October 15, 1981, Appellant's Motion to Compel the State to Elect Between Prosecution Under the Theory of Premeditated Murder or Felony-Murder was denied, as was the Appellant's Motion to Compel

the State to Elect Between the Defendant or the Co-Defendant as being the person that allegedly shot the victims. (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 124, 125). After a discussion of the possibility of stipulation to identification of the victims to alleviate the necessity for introducing photographs into evidence, Appellant made a Motion to Continue which was based upon Appellant's trial attorney being in poor physical and mental condition, and that motion was denied by the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 138). On October 19, 1981, a hearing was held on Appellant's Motions to Suppress Statements made and Evidence found pursuant to the execution of two search warrants, and, after initially stating that rulings would be deferred until the trial, (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 173) the Motions to Suppress were denied by the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 2, pg. 246).

On October 19, 1981, the trial of the matter began, and on October 27, 1981 the Appellant was found guilty as charged to all counts in the indictment by the jury. (Tr. Vol. 10, pg. 1711-1721, Vol. 8, pg. 1439). Appellant was then adjudicated guilty to all counts. (Tr. Vo. 8, pg. 1454). The jury was then reconvened for the purpose of an advisory opinion, and on October 28, 1981, bu vote of 7 to 5, the jury recommended the death penalty on all five murder counts. (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1515, and Vol. 10, pg. 1730-1734). Appellant then requested a psychiatric examination to be included in the pre-sentence investigation, which request was granted, (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1519), and sentencing was deferred until the pre-sentence examination could be

completed.

On November 10, 1981, various post-trial motions by Appellant were denied, including a Motion to Interview Jurors and a Motion to Hypnotize the Co-Defendant (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1533, 1535). On December 2, 1981, Appellant came up before the court for sentencing, and Appellant's Motion to Continue the Sentencing was denied (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1546), despite the fact that there had been no psychiatric examination included in the pre-sentencing investigation as ordered by the court, and despite the fact that Appellant and his attorney had not had a chance to review the presentence investigation. The court went on to find the existence of five aggravating circumstances and one mitigating circumstance, and imposed the death sentence upon the Appellant for each of the first five counts of the indictment, as well as consecutive life sentences on counts 6 through 11. Vol. 8, pg. 1553 and Vol. 10, pg. 1751 through 1755).

On December 2, 1982, Appellant's Motion for New Trial and Motion to Vacate Sentence (filed in November of 1981 but set by the court for hearings) were denied (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1571). On March 3, 1983, Appellant's Motion for a Stay was also denied by the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 8, pg. 1572, 1580).

Before the Notice of Appeal in the instant matter was filed, various habeas corpus petitions were filed by Appellant with the Fourth Distrcit Court of Appeals, premised upon the Grand Jury challenge of the less-than-minimum wage being paid to black jurors (Tr. Vol. 9, pg. 1612),

and these petitions were denied by the Fourth District Court of Appeals (Tr. Vol. 9, pg. 1614, 1620). A separate habeas corpus petition was filed in the Federal Courts prompting Appellant's Motion for a Stay on March 3, 1983. The Notice of Appeal in the instant matter was finally filed on January 6, 1983 (Tr. Vol. 10, pg. 1770).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 1, 1981, at approximately 3:20 AM, a burning automobile was located on US 27 south of Hollywood Boulevard in Broward County, Florida. (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 489, 501). Although the same car was seen earlier empty and not burning, it was discovered that the burning car now contained five bodies which were beyond recognition. (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 490, 505). Persons living in the area heard what they considered to be pistol shots approximately 3:00 AM on the night in question (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 574, 581). Although it was the opinion of an arson expert that the fire was intentionally set (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 556), the Medical Examiner testified that the three adults in the matter were shot and killed almost instantaneously (Tr. Vol. 6, pg. 1081), that the two children died from smoke and soot inhalation (Tr. Vol. 6, pg. 1067, 1068), and that the burns were postmortem charring (Tr. Vol. 6, pg. 1080).

Based, in part, upon an anonymous phone call,
Appellant and his wife, Karen Jackson, became known to
investigators and were questioned regarding the incident.
Appellant was questioned by Detective Schlein on March 3,
1981, (Tr. Vol. 5. pg. 977), and this conversation was
before Karen Jackson had given a statement, and Appellant's
statement was tape-recorded. From Appellant's statement,
investigators learned of the rocky marriage to Karen
Jackson, and Karen's habit of seeing other men. (Tr. Vol.
5, pg. 996). Appellant also explained the burns on his

face and arms by noting that he had been at a barbecue at the beach which blew up in his face. (Tr. Vol. 6, pg. 1008).

Karen Jackson was later questioned by the police and told the story of moving away from Appellant with Appellant's two children due to marital problems, and moving in with Walter and Edna Washington and the Washington's two children, Terrence and Reginald, at a house where Larry Finney sometimes lived. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 812-814). Jackson then testified that on February 28, 1981, Appellant drove by the Washington house in his camper/truck causing Karen to hide in the bedroom and close the door. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 822). Appellant then came into the house with codefendant Aubrey Livingston, and Livingston had a gun. After some altercation with the Washingtons and Finney, Karen was told to put her clothes and children in Appellant's car, and saw Walter Washington and Larry Finney come out of the house with their hands behind them. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 832). All five of the victims were placed in the back of the Appellant's camper with co-defendant Livingston, and the Appellant with Karen Jackson and their children sat in the front of the truck. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 833).

Appellant then drove around, according to Karen's testimony, until a car was found parked on the side of the road. After passing that car approximately four times, Appellant stopped and got out of the camper with the

co-defendant. Karen Jackson then saw nothing else, but heard the victims being told to get out of the camper and that they were going to be left in the car, and that they were going to be held hostage the way that Karen Jackson had been held hostage. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 832, 839). Jackson then heard sounds that she thought were gunshots, and heard the co-defendant say "hurry up" , and heard a big explosion. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 839,840). Karen testified that the Appellant never had a gun, and that the co-defendant had the gun at all times, (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 869, 870) and further, that she never saw Appellant shoot anyone, and never saw anyone start the fire in the car (Tr. Vol.5, pg. 871, 872). While driving back, Karen testified that she noticed that the Appellant's eyebrows and lashes were singed, and Appellant stated that he felt like his face was on fire (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 909).

Karen did not call the police, although she saw the burning car on the news that evening, and, in fact, acted as if nothing happened going to work the next day after going out to breakfast and carrying on with her life with Appellant. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 841 and 883-893).

Appellant stipulated that the hands of Walter Washington were tied behind his back (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 527), and Karen Jackson testified that the yellow plastic rope was similar to rope owned by the Appellant, which she saw at the time of the supposed kidnapping. (Tr. Vol 5, pg. 830).

There was a conflict in testimony, however, regarding the similarity and identity of the samples of rope from the bound hands of Washington, and the sample of rope taken from Appellant's house. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 959-960, and Vol. 6, pg. 1197-1199). The slugs taken from the bodies were found to be .38 slugs (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 933, 934), which could not have been fired by the .44 pistol found in Appellant's home. (Tr. Vol. 5, page 941).

Appellant testified in his own behalf and totally contradicted the critical stages of Karen's testimony, stating that on the night in question, Appellant gave Karen the truck in question and he did not see her again for some time, while Appellant stayed home. (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1250, 1254). Appellant also explained the fact that he went to a barbecue on the following day and was burned during such barbecue (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1268, 1283-1284). Finally, Appellant testified that he had nothing to do with the killing and knew nothing about the fire in question (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1302). Other facts will be cited throughout the brief as appropriate.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL AT APPELLANT'S REQUEST.

On October 14, 1981, Appellant's attorney filed a Motion to Continue the trial which was then set for October (Tr. Vol. 9, pg. 1656). Notwithstanding the legitimate and valid reasons to delay the trial, including the fact of newly revealed witnesses which were to be deposed, and the fact that some depositions had not been transcribed, the main thrust of the Motion to Continue was the trial attorney's physical injury and resultant treatment and medication which left him physically and mentally unprepared and unable to adequately defend the Appellant in a capital trial. After viewing a photograph of the trial attorney's injuries, the Assistant State Attorney handling the case did not object to the continuance of the trial and, in fact, deferred to the court's discretion in the matter. 1, pg. 132). After reviewing the Motion, viewing the photograph, and hearing the attorney's presentation, the trial court denied the Motion to Continue (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 138), and continued in that denial despite the attorney's statement, moments later, that "In my drowsiness, I'm not sure that Your Honor clearly ruled on the Motion to Appoint an Investigator." (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 142). The trial court's refusal to allow Appellant's attorney to not only finish his preparation, but, more importantly, to be physically and mentally prepared and able to adequately and vigorously represent the Appellant, mandates

reversal.

The granting or denial of a Motion for Continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and such decision will generally not be overturned absent a palpable abuse of discretion. Lusk v. State, F.L.W., Vol 9, pg. 39 (Fla. 1984). Page 39. A number of cases have found such an abuse of discretion and have resulted in convictions being reversed, with the most common factor in such cases being the defense counsel not having adequate opportunity to investigate and prepare a defense. See Palmer v. State, 380 So. 2nd 476 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980) where a conviction was reversed where the main public defender became ill and a substitute public defender, that had contact with the case in the past, was pressed into service for the trial. The court noted that it was an abuse of discretion to not grant a continuance once it became apparent that the Appellant would not be adequately represented. Page 478; Meadows v. State, 389 So.2d 694 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980) original co-counsel pressed into trial without being adequately prepared; Brown v. State, F.L.W. Vol 8, pg. 475 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) inadequate time to meet and deal with hypnotic evidence; see also Sumbry v. State, 310 So.2nd 445 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975); Lightsey v. State 364 So.2d 72 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978). Adequate time to prepare a defense is inherent in the right to counsel under the VI Amendment, and is founded on constitutional principles of due process and cast in the light of notions of a right to a fair trial.

<u>Harley v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Page 383.

The instant matter takes on a singular clarity as this court does not have to speculate regarding the effect of the denial of the continuance on the Appellant's right to a fair trial, since the record on appeal is replete with numerous examples of the trial attorney's physical and mental problems. Actual statements and complaints of the trial attorney and examples of serious mistakes of judgement and on the law demonstrate that Appellant did not receive reasonably effective assistance of counsel at his trial.

Knight v. State, 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981).

Aside from the written motion alleging the ill effects of the medication taken, and the attorney's affirmance of his drowsiness and lack of attention at the Motion on October 15, 1981, the attorney also mentioned his medication and slow and distorted speech during jury selection (Tr. Vol. 2, pg. 379), and, still during jury selection, the attorney stated to the court, when it was pointed out that he was wrong, "I made a mistake which I would submit is due to my drowsiness on the medication." (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 445). Even before the jury was selected and sworn, and before jeopardy attached, the court was aware of the attorney's problems, yet still denied the continuance.

During the actual trial of the matter, the attorney notified the court that "I am not feeling good, and I forgot to do it", pointing out a mistake in the questioning of a State witness (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 631). Later, during the

State's case, the State was about to put on an extremely pregnant witness at 5:00 PM in the afternoon. court, after hearing the Motion to Exclude the Witness, adjourned for 20 minutes to let a depositon take place. After further discussion of the deposition, the trial attorney stated to the court, ""the time is approximately 5:26 according to the courtroom clock - I do have physical problems. I am unable to effectively assist my client at this time under these conditions." (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 773). After further discussion of the attorney's physical problems, the court determined that the pregnant witness's problems were more acute, prompting the attorney to make a Motion to Withdraw which was denied by the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 775). With the denial of Motion to Withdraw and in the middle of further discussions between the court, the prosecutor and the trial attorney. the attorney simply walked out of the courtroom without comment and without permission of the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 4, page 776). After a few more minutes and a deposition, the attorney returned, stating that he felt better but that, "I am at Your Honor's mercy. I'm shook up." (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 778). After ascertaining that the attorney's Motion to Withdraw was made in earnest, the Motion was again denied by the court. (Tr. Vol. 4, page 779). Even after all of these affirmative statements by the defense attorney, the trial court continued on with the trial, refusing to delay the case, even after it was apparent that the attorney could

not adequately represent the Appellant. This denial was an abuse of discretion. Palmer, supra, pg. 478.

Aside from the affirmative statements regarding his physical condition and related statements to errors, mistakes and lack of comprehension listed above, many blatant errors and mistakes of law and judgement appear in the Record on Appeal, which certainly should have convinced the trial court of the seriousness of the attorney's condition. Before the evidence started, the attorney announced to the court that he waived opening statement, at which time the court informed/reminded the attorney that he could reserve his opening until the State rested. (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 469). The attorney then insisted on a "package deal" stipulation of the identity of the victims as well as the cause of death. Although the State was willing on two separate occasions to accept a stipulation regarding the identity of the victims, the tandem stipulation was unacceptable to the State. Consequently, the State was allowed to bring in a great deal of testimony regarding articles found at the scene, as well as background testimony and, most importantly, highly inflamatory photographs to prove the identity. (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 506, 600). Similarly, after the State informed the court and defense counsel that it did not intend to admit a .44 handgun found at the Appellant's home, nor the ammunition for it, (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 442) the defense attorney then opened the door on cross examination, brought out the

fact that the pistol and ammunition were found in the Appellant's home, and allowed the state to place the gun into evidence. (Tr. Vol 4, pg. 756, 763). Further, defense attorney clearly had no organized idea of a defense at the trial, and randomly tried to argue a spurious "Cuban militant" theory based upon a poster found in the area and a friend of one of the victims named Jose (Tr. Vol. 3, pg. 497, Vol. 4, pg. 615), a drug-related killing based on drugs that the victim, Finney, could possibly get from the hospital (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 862), and based upon personal character attacks upon the victim, Finney, while questioning Finney's mother (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 616).

Finally, and very telling, was the repeated failure of the trial attorney to object to the introduction of, and testimony about, articles of evidence and statements which were the subjects of earlier Motions to Suppress. On October 19, 1981, a hearing was held on previously filed Motions to Suppress, the result of the search of the Appellant's house, his vehicle, and a Motion to Suppress taperecorded statements which were taken from the Appellant. Regarding the Motion to Suppress the two searches, both searches were premised upon search warrants which admittedly contained false statements in the affidavits (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 179), were possibly based upon an illegal pretext search to gather evidence (Tr. Vol 2, pg. 239), and were definitely based upon the statement of Karen Jackson, who may or may not have been under hypnotism at the time of her statement (Tr. Vol. 6, pg. 1022).

Regarding the Motion to Suppress Statement, it was established that the tape recorded statement was given without the benefit of Miranda rights, that it was given without the Appellant being told that he was a suspect, and it was given after police officers entered Appellant's home without a warrant, and subjected Appellant to their apparent authority. (Tr. Vol. 1, pg. 163, 164). Despite the valid constitutional issues raised by both of these Motions to Suppress, Appellant's attorney, apparently due to his weakened mental condition, failed to object on constitutional grounds when the yellow rope and gas samples were admitted into evidence (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 714, 719), and, further, Appellant was then questioned during his testimony and verified that the rope in question was his rope. (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1200). Regarding the handcuffs, holster, and keys found in Appellant's vehicle, there were no objections on constitutional grounds when these articles were presented and introduced into evidence (Tr. Vol. 4, pg. 725-738) and, the Appellant, in his testimony, admitted ownership of the holster (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1276). Finally, regarding the tape recorded statement of Appellant, there was no objection on constitutional grounds to the playing of the tape recording (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 983), and, in fact, it was elicited from the Appellant during his testimony that he consented to such recording (Tr. Vol. 7, pg. 1291). Further, not only was there no constitutional objection to the tape recordings, but the trial attorney raised two totally meritless objections to the tapes: that the tape recording should not be admitted as the

police officer's testimony is the "best evidence" (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 981); and that the tabs which were punched out on the cassette tape could possibly have been rebuilt to allow re-recording on the tapes. (Tr. Vol. 5, pg. 984-988).

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