IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOUGLAS JACKSON, Appellant,) }	FILED S'D J. WHITE JUL 24 1984
v.) Case No. 63,043	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.)))	Chief Deputy/Overk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

PENNY H. BRILL Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

Karen Jackson's testimony was corroborated by the testimony of Barbara Finney, which related Appellant's search for Karen Jackson prior to the murders, and her observance of Appellant's

camper in the area of the victim's house (R.592, 596-597). In addition Officer Pace testified that Appellant told him on the day of the murders that he was going to see his wife that day (R.644). 10/Appellant's involvement and intent to commit these crimes can further be demonstrated by the statements which he told to Sergeant Schlein, which Appellant admitted at trial were false (R 1293-1294). Furthermore, the conflicts in Appellant's testimony with that of other witnesses (R.1300-1301, 1304-1305) which the jury believed can be considered as substantive evidence, and thus probative of whether the defendant has presented any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Williams v. State, 437 So.2d 133, 135 (Fla. 1983).

Appellee submits that the above evidence more than sufficiently supports Appellant's conviction for first degree murder, not only on a felony-murder theory, but as a principle to premidated murder. The evidence overwhelmingly establishes premeditation on the part of the Appellant. The evidence established that the premeditation did not occur just a moment before the act, but showed that Appellant had ample opportunity to consider his actions during a long drive from Dade County to Broward County.

See, e.g., Card v. State, ___ So.2d ___, Case No. 61,715, Fla., opinion filed June 7, 1984 [9 FLW 217, 219]. In addition, the act of setting the car ablaze, which killed the two children, was clearly an act of premeditation. Even if Appellant did not

^{10 /} There was other physical evidence to implicate the Appellant, including the handcuffs found on the scene, which Appellant's keys fit (R. 453, 737); other handcuffs and cans of inflammable liquid found in the Appellant's car (R. 719), as well as the yellow rope found in the Appellant's home (R. 717), which matched that found on Walter Washington's wrists (R. 954).

shoot the adults, there is little question that Appellant not only knew, but contemplated that the lives would be taken. As such, he is guilty of first degree murder as an aider and abettor. See James v. State, ____ So.2d ____, Case No. 62,551, Fla., opinion filed May 24, 1984 [9 FLW 199]. Thus, there is substantial evidence to support Appellant's convictions. 11/

^{11 /} Appellee submits that under the facts of this case, the "interest of justice" does not require that this Court reverse for a new trial. Karen Jackson's testimony, unlike the witness in Tibbs v. State, supra, was not weak or dubious. As stated, supra, her testimony was corroborated in many areas by other witnesses and physical evidence. See, Clark v. State, 379 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1979). The verdict was not contrary to the weight of the evidence.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR, REVERSIBLE OR OTHERWISE, IN VARIOUS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS (Restated).

Appellant alleges that the trial court made various errors of fact and law, which taken cumulatively, prevented the Appellant from receiving a fair trial. Appellee submits that the trial court's various rulings on evidentiary and procedural matter were either not error or if error were harmless, not affecting Appellant's rights to a fair trial.

A. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Dis-Cretion In Not Allowing The Appellant To Present Expert Testimony On The Subject Of Hypnosis.

Trial court's enjoy a certain amount of discretion in the ruling on the admissibility of evidence. Chandler v. State, 366 So. 2d 64, 70 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). A trial court does not abuse its discretion where the evidence is so remote or slightly probative, that it is nothing but pure speculation with no support in the record. See, e.g., Hitchcock v. State, 413 So. 2d 741, 744 (Fla. 1982); Bishop v. State, 438 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that Karen Jackson had been subjected to hypnosis by Sergeant Schlein. Schlein denied using hypnosis (R. 1183), and his denial was supported by Karen Jackson's testimony (R. 874, 904). The testimony of Martin Seigel had no legitimate tendency to prove or disprove a given proposition that was material to the case. See United States v.

Wertis, 505 F. 2d 683, 685 (5th Cir. 1979). Compare Bundy v. State, ___ So. 2d ___ , Case No. 57,772, Fla., opinion filed June 21, 1984 [9 FLW 257, 260-261]. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Martin Seigel's testimony was irrelevant.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Dis-Cretion In Sustaining Objections To Lines Of Inquiry On Cross-Examinations.

Trial judges are vested with considerable discretion in regulating the manner of cross-examination of witnesses. Demps_v. State, 395 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1981). The court's rulings will not be disturbed unless a clear abuse of discretion is shown.

Maggard v. State, 399 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1981).

Appellee submits that Appellant's cross-examination of Karen Jackson as to her sexual relationship with a security guard named Roy was totally irrelevant to the issue of whether the Appellant's jealousy induced the murders. Rather it was nothing but a blatent attempt to go into a collateral matter, with no other purpose but to embarrass Karen Jackson. The trial court had allowed Appellant to question Karen Jackson about her sexual relationship with the victim, Larry Finney, (R. 884, 886). It

^{12/}

¹² Any error would be harmless, where the testimony was only tangently relevant to assessing Karen Jackson's credibility, and where the evidence against Appellant was overwhelming.

was only after Appellant reniged on his agreement not to question her about her relationship with anyone else (R. 884, 912-913), that the trial court limited this area of cross-examination (R. 913). The purpose of the testimony was to embarrass the witness and to show general acts of misconduct on the part of the witness, and was thus properly excluded. See, e.g., Washington v. State, 432 So. 2d 44, 47 (Fla. 1983); Nelson v. State, 99 Fla. 1032, 128 So. 1, 3 (1930); Tully v. State, 69 Fla. 662, 68 So. 934 (1915); Bailey v. State, 411 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Maycock v. State, 248 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972); Urga v. State, 155 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963); Carter v. State, 101 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958).

Appellee also submits that there was no error in the trial court's sustaining the State's objections to Appellant's questions to Barbara Finney concerning Larry Finney's criminal past, and to Finney's ability to procur drugs from the hospital where he worked. Initially it should be noted that the State stipulated that Finney had one prior conviction (R. 616), and that Mrs. Finney acknowledged that the police had asked her whether Finney was involved with dealing drugs (R. 613-614). Appellee asserts that the questions asked to Mrs. Finney were identical to those disallowed in Proffitt v. State, 315 So. 2d 461, 464 (Fla. 1975).

See also Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

^{13/}

¹³ Appellee would also submit that any error would be harmless where the Appellant was allowed to testify in detail as to the numerous times he found Karen Jackson involved with other men (R. 1223-1224, 1226, 1228, 1234, 1235, 1236, 1239-1240, 1247). See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 338 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976)

In addition, Appellee submits that the questions concerning Finney's criminal background were properly excluded as relevant only to show Finney's alleged bad acts, an impermissible purpose. See <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, supra, 413 So. 2d at 744. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sustaining these lines of inquiry on cross-examination.

C. The Photographs Of Appellant Taken After His Arrest Were Admissible.

Appellant alleges that on appeal, as he did in the trial court that the photographs taken of the Appellant after his arrest should be suppressed because they were taken by order of the arresting officers without the benefit of a motion or a court order (R. 175-176). However, Appellant has cited no rule, statute, or other authority for said proposition, and Appellee has been unable to find any. Not only is this issue not preserved for review by Appellant's failure to object at trial (R. 522-523, 526-530, 1013), Fraterrigo v. State, 151 Fla. 634, 10 So. 2d 361 (1942), but it is without merit where Appellant has no expectation of privacy in his face once he has been legally arrested and photographed pursuant to routine administrative procedures for booking of defendants. See, e.g., Illinois v. Lafayette, U.S. , 103 S. Ct. 2605 (1983). In addition, any error would be harmless where Sergeant Schlein testified as to the marks which Appellant had on his face (R. 1013).

D. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Denying Appellant's Motion To Strike The Grand Jury Panel Or The Petit Jury Panel.

Appellant challenged the composition of the grand jury

Statutes (1979), which provided that grand jurors were to be paid \$10.00 a day, was a form of institutional racism because it forced blacks who were making minimum wage to fail to register to vote or to ask to be excused from jury duty (R. 15-21). Appellee submits that Appellant's position is without merit.

Appellee would initially assert that Appellant waived his right to challenge the grand jury venire by his failure to challenge the grand jury before it was impaneled and sworn when he knew prior to his indictment that the case would be taken to the grand jury (R. 21). Section 905.05, Florida Statutes (1979).

See Whitney v. State, 132 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1961). Compare Francois v. State, 407 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 1981).

Appellee further submits that the Appellant's challenge to the grand jury was merely conclusionary, and failed to assert facts which would allege a prima facie case of underrepresentation and raise a doubt as to whether the panel was improperly constituted. See Duran v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 364 (1979); Casteneda v. Partida, 430 U.S. 482, 494 (1977); Dykman v. State, 294 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1973). Appellant failed to submit statistics or figures to indicate the percentage of blacks in the community [and who were making minimum wage] and those called for jury duty.

Appellee further submits that the trial court did not err in failing to strike the petit jury venire as not having a representative number of black members. Defendants are not entitled to a jury of any particular composition. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419

U.S. 538 (1975); Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202 (1965). Furthermore, Appellant had not even alleged that the lack of blacks on his petit jury was due to the prosecutor's use of peremptory 14 challenges. See Neil v. State, 433 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1983). The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to strike the jury venire.

E. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Conducting A Pre-Trial Hearing On Various Motions In The Absence Of The Appellant.

Initially, Appellee would submit that the only hearing in which the record indicates that Appellant was absent for was a hearing on July 2, 1981, (R. 24-26). Prior to the hearing, defense counsel was asked if he needed the Appellant to handle the motions. Counsel replied no (R. 25). After waiving Appellant's presence, the trial court proceeded with the motions (R. 25).

Appellee submits that this pre-trial hearing was not a critical stage of the proceeding which required Appellant's presence. Only legal arguments were presented. No evidence was taken. Appellee asserts that such a hearing is akin to motions to suppress photographs alleged to be inflammatory; Herzog v. State, 439 So. 2d 1372, 1375 (Fla. 1983); or bench conferences, Shriner v. State, So. 2d , Case No. 65,452, Fla., opinion

^{14/}

¹⁴ In fact, the prosecutor stated that he would prefer to have a black jury because the victims were all black (R. 460).

filed June 15, 1984 [9 FLW 243]; or charge conferences. Randall v. State, 346 So. 2d 1233 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). See also Blanco v. State, So. 2d , Case Nos. 62,371 & 62,598, Fla., opinion filed June 7, 1984 [9 FLW 215]. In addition, at Appellant's subsequent appearances, he never objected. A defendant's subsequent acquiesence in matters conducted during his absence by his attorney will be construed as a waiver of the defendant's right to be present at proceedings before the court. State v. Melendez, 244 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Thus, no reversible error is present.

F. The Trial Court Did Not Reversibly Err In Ordering Appellant Not To Converse With His Attorney During A Recess In Appellant's Cross-Examination.

Appellee acknowledges that a trial court cannot deny a defendant consultation with his attorney during any trial recess, even in the middle of his testimony, no matter how brief the recess is. Bova v. State, 410 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1982). However, Appellee submits that Appellant has waived any error by his failure to object to the trial court's order (R. 1280). Furthermore, Appellee asserts that Appellant has shown no actual prejudice from the trial court's order, or that the brief restraint on defense consultation in any way contributed to the jury's finding of guilt. Thus, the error was harmless. Bova v. State, supra, 410 So. 2d at 1345; McFadden v. State, 424 So. 2d 918 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

G. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying Appellant's Motion To Change Venue Due To Pre-Trial Publicity.

Initially, Appellee would submit that the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to change venue where the motion did not comply in any way with the provisions of Rule 3.240(b) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (R. 1573-1578). Allen v. State, 174 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1965). In addition, Appellant has failed to demonstrate that it was impossible for him to receive a fair and impartial trial in Broward County because of pre-trial publicity. Of the thirty-two prospective jurors examined, four admitted to having read about the case or having heard about it on radio. As stated supra, all the prospective jurors were able to state, when questioned by the trial court that they could decide the issues based upon the evidence heard, the exhibits examined in the courtroom, and the instructions on the law given by the court. Thus, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for change of venue. See, e.g., Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282 (1977); Tafero v. State, 403 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1981); Straight v. State, 397 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1981); Jackson v. State, 359 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1978).

> H. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Denying Appellant's Motions To Suppress Physical Evidence And Statements.

As Appellant concedes in his brief, counsel did not object at trial to the introduction of the various items of physical

157

 $^{^{15}}$ Although Appellant requested an extension of time to file affidavits, none were ever filed (R. 1584).

evidence obtained from a search of the Appellant's camper and home pursuant to two search warrants. Furthermore, Appellant did not object on constitutional grounds to the introduction of Appellant's tape recorded statement to Sergeant Schlein. Therefore, Appellant has not preserved this issue for appeal.

Appellee submits that although the statement in the affidavit for the search warrants, that the affiant had taken a sworn statement from Karen Jackson, was not true, the record supports a finding that the misstatement was made innocently or negligently, and not intentionally or recklessly with an intent to deceive the issuing judge. See Francis v. State, 412 So. 2d 931, 932 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Sergeant Crawford, who was working closely with the case with Sergeant Schlein, was the affiant for the search warrants. Sergeant Schlein was the affiant for the arrest warrant. Both affiants were the same (R. 228). Sergeant Crawford was present for the interview with Barbara Finney (R. 158), as well as the interview with the Appellant (R. 165). Other information was learned from other officers and included in the affidavit. This is permissible. See, e.g., United States v. Steed, 465 F. 2d 1310, 1315 (9th Cir. 1972).

In addition the Appellee asserts that without that statement, there is sufficient probable cause to support the warrant
based on the statements and observations by the witnesses and
the Appellant himself.

¹⁶⁷

¹⁶ If the court did err in denying the motion to suppress, the Appellee asserts that due to the other evidence, including the testimony of Karen Jackson which was corroborated by other witnesses, see text, supra at 33-36, the error was harmless.

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